Prospectus



24,677,419 Shares of Common Stock

Pursuant to this prospectus, the selling stockholders identified herein (the "**Selling Stockholders**") are offering on a resale basis an aggregate of 24,677,419 shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share (the "**Common Stock**"), of Heron Therapeutics, Inc. ("**Heron**," "**we**," "**our**" or the "**Company**"), a Delaware corporation. All shares of Common Stock offered for resale hereby were deemed acquired by certain Selling Stockholders pursuant to a securities purchase agreement by and among the Company and the Selling Stockholders, dated August 8, 2022 (the "**Purchase Agreement**"), of which 16,129,032 shares are outstanding and held by the Selling Stockholders and 8,548,387 shares are issuable upon the exercise of pre-funded warrants (the "**Pre-Funded Warrants**") held by certain of the Selling Stockholders and issued pursuant to the Purchase Agreement. The shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants were sold pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "**Securities Act**") provided in Section 4(a)(2) thereof and/or Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated thereunder. We are registering the resale of the shares of Common Stock covered by this prospectus as required by the Purchase Agreement entered into by and among the Company and the Selling Stockholders.

We will not receive any of the proceeds from sales by the Selling Stockholders of the Common Stock. Upon any exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants by payment of cash, however, we will receive the nominal cash exercise price paid by the holders of the Pre-Funded Warrants. We intend to use those proceeds, if any, for general corporate purposes.

The Selling Stockholders may sell or otherwise dispose of the Common Stock covered by this prospectus in a number of different ways and at varying prices. We provide more information about how the Selling Stockholders may sell or otherwise dispose of the Common Stock covered by this prospectus in the section entitled "Plan of Distribution" on page 12. Discounts, concessions, commissions and similar selling expenses attributable to the sale of Common Stock covered by this prospectus will be borne by the Selling Stockholders. We will pay all expenses (other than discounts, concessions, commissions and similar selling expenses) relating to the registration of the Common Stock with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol "HRTX." On October 18, 2022, the last reported sale price of our common stock on The Nasdaq Capital Market was \$4.11 per share.

Investing in shares of our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Before making any investment in these shares of our common stock, you should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described in the section entitled "<u>Risk</u> <u>Factors</u>" beginning on page 6 of this prospectus.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense. The securities are not being offered in any jurisdiction where the offer is not permitted.

The date of this prospectus is October 18, 2022

-

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements	2
Prospectus Summary	4
About the Company	4
The Offering	5
Risk Factors	6
Use of Proceeds	7
Description of Common Stock	8
Selling Stockholders	10
Plan of Distribution	12
Legal Matters	14
<u>Experts</u>	14
Where You Can Find More Information	15
Incorporation of Certain Information by Reference	16

ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

This prospectus is part of a registration statement that we filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") utilizing a shelf registration process. Under the shelf registration process, the Selling Stockholders may, from time to time, offer and sell the shares described in this prospectus in one or more offerings. Information about the Selling Stockholders may change over time.

This prospectus provides you with a general description of the shares the Selling Stockholders may offer. Each time the Selling Stockholders sell our shares using this prospectus, to the extent necessary and required by law, we will provide a prospectus supplement that will contain specific information about the terms of that offering, including the number of shares being offered, the manner of distribution, the identity of any underwriters or other counterparties and other specific terms related to the offering. The prospectus supplement may also add, update or change information contained in this prospectus. To the extent that any statement made in a prospectus supplement is inconsistent with statements made in this prospectus, the statements made in this prospectus supplement and the information incorporated by reference in this prospectus before making an investment in shares of our common stock. See "Where You Can Find More Information" for more information.

Neither we nor the Selling Stockholders have authorized anyone to provide any information other than that contained in this prospectus or in any free writing prospectus prepared by or on behalf of us or to which we may have referred you. Neither we nor the Selling Stockholders take any responsibility for, nor can provide assurance as to the reliability of, any other information that others may give you. Neither we nor the Selling Stockholders take any other person to provide you with different or additional information, and neither of us are making an offer to sell the shares in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. You should assume that the information appearing in this prospectus is accurate only as of the date on the front cover of this prospectus, regardless of the time of delivery of the prospectus or any sale of the ordinary shares. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since the date on the front cover of this prospectus.

For investors outside of the United States, neither we nor the Selling Stockholders have done anything that would permit the offering or possession or distribution of this prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required, other than in the United States. You are required to inform yourselves about and to observe any restrictions relating to the offering and the distribution of this prospectus outside of the United States.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. We make such forward-looking statements pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other federal securities laws. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by the use of the words "believe," "expect," "anticipate," "intend," "estimate," "project," "will," "would," "could," "should," "may," "might," "plan," "assume" and other expressions that predict or indicate future events and trends and which do not relate to historical matters. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus, including statements regarding our future results of operations and financial position, business and commercialization strategy, products and product candidates, research pipeline, ongoing and planned preclinical studies and clinical trials, regulatory submissions and approvals, addressable patient population, research and development expenses, timing and likelihood of success, as well as plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. You should not rely on forward-looking statements because they involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, some of which are beyond our control. These risks, uncertainties and other factors may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from our anticipated future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.

Factors that might cause these differences include the following:

- our ability to successfully commercialize, market and achieve market acceptance of ZYNRELEF® (bupivacaine and meloxicam) extended-release solution ("ZYNRELEF") in the United States ("U.S."), the European Union, the other countries in the European Economic Area, the United Kingdom, Canada and any other countries in which we receive applicable regulatory approvals, and of APONVIETM (aprepitant) injectable emulsion ("APONVIE"), CINVANTI® (aprepitant) injectable emulsion and SUSTOL® (granisetron) extended-release injection in the U.S. (collectively, our "Products"), and HTX-034 (our "Product Candidate"), if approved by applicable regulatory authorities, and our positioning relative to competing products;
- the timing of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration's ("**FDA**") review process, whether the FDA approves any future supplemental New Drug Application for ZYNRELEF to further expand the U.S. label, and our ability to capture the potential additional market opportunity for the expanded U.S. label;
- our ability to establish satisfactory pricing and obtain adequate reimbursement from government and third-party payors of our Products and our Product Candidate, if approved, or any product candidates we may develop;
- whether study results of our Products and Product Candidate are indicative of the results in future studies;
- the timing and results of the commercial launch of ZYNRELEF in Europe and Canada;
- the timing and results of the commercial launch of APONVIE in the U.S.;
- the potential regulatory approval for and commercial launch of our Product Candidate, if approved;
- the potential market opportunities for our Products and our Product Candidate, if approved;
- our competitors' activities, including decisions as to the timing of competing product launches, generic entrants, pricing and discounting;
- whether safety and efficacy results of our clinical studies and other required tests for expansion of the indications for our Products and approval of our Product Candidate provide data to warrant progression of clinical trials, potential regulatory approval or further development of any of our Products or our Product Candidate;

- our ability to develop, acquire and advance product candidates into, and successfully complete, clinical studies, and our ability to submit for and obtain regulatory approval for product candidates in our anticipated timing, or at all;
- our ability to meet the post-marketing study requirements within the FDA's mandated timelines and to obtain favorable results and comply with standard post-marketing requirements, including U.S. federal advertising and promotion laws, federal and state anti-fraud and abuse laws, healthcare information privacy and security laws, safety information, safety surveillance and disclosure of payments or other transfers of value to healthcare professionals and entities for any of our Products or our Product Candidate;
- our ability to successfully develop and achieve regulatory approval for our Product Candidate and our other future product candidates utilizing our proprietary Biochronomer[®] drug delivery technology ("**Biochronomer Technology**");
- our ability to establish key collaborations and vendor relationships for our Products and our Product Candidate;
- our ability to successfully develop and commercialize any technology that we may in-license or products we may acquire;
- unanticipated delays due to manufacturing difficulties, supply constraints or changes in the regulatory environment;
- our ability to successfully operate in non-U.S. jurisdictions in which we may choose to do business, including compliance with applicable regulatory requirements and laws;
- uncertainties associated with obtaining and enforcing patents and trade secrets to protect our Products, our Product Candidate, our Biochronomer Technology and our other technology, and our ability to successfully defend ourselves against unforeseen third-party infringement claims;
- the impact of our restructuring activities, including the reduced headcount and external spend;
- the extent of the impact of the ongoing Coronavirus Disease 2019 ("COVID-19") pandemic on our business, including any COVID-19 mutations or variants and any other diseases related to or resulting from COVID-19;
- our estimates regarding our capital requirements; and
- our ability to obtain additional financing and raise capital as necessary to fund operations or pursue business opportunities.

Our actual results and financial condition may differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements as a result of the foregoing factors, as well as those identified in this prospectus under the heading "Risk Factors" and in the applicable prospectus supplement and under similar headings in the other documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus. Therefore, you should not rely unduly on any of these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus speak as of the date hereof and the Company does not undertake to update any of these forward-looking statements to reflect a change in its views or events or circumstances that occur after the date of this prospectus.

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

The following summary highlights certain information contained elsewhere in this prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein. This summary provides an overview of selected information and does not contain all of the information you should consider in making your investment decision. Therefore, you should read the entire prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein carefully before investing in our securities. Investors should carefully consider the information set forth under "Risk Factors" beginning on page 6 of this prospectus and the financial statements and other information incorporated by reference in this prospectus. In this prospectus, unless otherwise noted, (1) the term "Heron" refers to Heron Therapeutics, Inc. and (2) the terms "Company," "we," "us," and "our" refer to our ongoing business operations.

ABOUT THE COMPANY

We are a commercial-stage biotechnology company focused on improving the lives of patients by developing and commercializing therapeutic innovations that improve medical care. Our advanced science, patented technologies, and innovative approach to drug discovery and development have allowed us to create and commercialize a portfolio of products that aim to advance the standard-of-care for acute care and oncology patients.

Our executive offices are located at 4242 Campus Point Court, Suite 200, San Diego, California 92121, and our telephone number is (858) 251-4400. Our website address is *www.herontx.com*. Information contained on, or accessible through, our website is not incorporated by reference in this prospectus. We make our periodic and current reports available on our website, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. No portion of our website is incorporated by reference into this prospectus. We file our annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. Our filings with the SEC are also available to the public on the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov. Additional information regarding us, including our audited financial statements and descriptions of our business, is contained in the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus. Our common stock is traded on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol "HRTX."

THE OFFERING

Pursuant to this prospectus, the Selling Stockholders are offering on a resale basis an aggregate of 24,677,419 shares of Common Stock. All shares of Common Stock offered for resale hereby were acquired by certain Selling Stockholders pursuant to the Purchase Agreement by and among the Company and the Selling Stockholders, dated August 8, 2022, of which 16,129,032 shares are outstanding and held by the Selling Stockholders and 8,548,387 shares are issuable upon the exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants held by certain of the Selling Stockholders and issued pursuant to the Purchase Agreement.

Common Stock to be offered by the Selling Stockholders:	16,129,032 shares of Common Stock and 8,548,387 shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of Pre-Funded Warrants.
Common Stock outstanding prior to this offering:	118,773,864 shares.
Common Stock to be outstanding after this offering:	127,322,251 shares (assuming the exercise of all Pre-Funded Warrants).
Use of proceeds:	We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale by the Selling Stockholders of the Common Stock. Upon any exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants by payment of cash, however, we will receive the nominal cash exercise price paid by the holders of the Pre-Funded Warrants. See "Use of Proceeds" on page 7 of this prospectus.
Risk factors:	You should read the "Risk Factors" section beginning on page 6 of this prospectus for a discussion of factors to consider carefully before deciding to invest in shares of our common stock.
Nasdaq Capital Market symbol:	Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol "HRTX." We do not intend to apply for listing of the Pre-Funded Warrants on any securities exchange or nationally recognized trading system.

RISK FACTORS

Investing in shares of our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Before investing in shares of our common stock, you should carefully consider the risks, uncertainties and assumptions contained in this prospectus and discussed under the heading "Risk Factors" included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 and subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, which are on file with the SEC and are incorporated herein by reference, and which may be amended, supplemented or superseded from time to time by other reports we file with the SEC in the future, including any accompanying prospectus supplement and the documents incorporated by reference therein. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and future growth prospects could be materially and adversely affected by any of these risks. In these circumstances, the market price of our Common Stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment.

USE OF PROCEEDS

We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of the shares of Common Stock by the Selling Stockholders. Some of the shares of Common Stock offered hereby are issuable upon the exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants. Upon exercise of such Pre-Funded Warrants for cash, we will receive the nominal cash exercise price paid by the holders of the Pre-Funded Warrants. We intend to use those proceeds, if any, for general corporate purposes.

DESCRIPTION OF COMMON STOCK

The following is a description of our common stock. You should refer to our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws for the actual terms of our common stock. Copies of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may be obtained as described under the heading "Where You Can Find Additional Information" in this prospectus.

We are authorized to issue up to 152,500,000 shares of capital stock of which 150,000,000 shares are of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, and 2,500,000 shares are of preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share.

Common Stock

The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted upon by the stockholders. Subject to preferences that may be applicable to any outstanding preferred stock, the holders of common stock are entitled to receive ratably any dividends declared by the Board of Directors out of the funds legally available for payment of dividends. In the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, holders of common stock will share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of liabilities and the liquidation preference of any outstanding preferred stock. Holders of common stock have no preemptive rights, no right to convert their common stock into any other securities, and no right to vote cumulatively for the election of directors. The outstanding shares of our common stock are fully paid and non-assessable.

As of September 30, 2022, 118,773,864 shares of our common stock were issued and outstanding.

Transfer Agent and Registrar. The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Computershare Trust Company N.A.

Listing. Our common stock is currently listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol "HRTX."

Certain Provisions Affecting Control of Heron Therapeutics

Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaw Provisions. Some provisions of Delaware law and our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could make the following transactions more difficult:

- acquisition of us by means of a tender offer;
- acquisition of us by means of a proxy contest or otherwise; or
- removal of our incumbent officers and directors.

These provisions, summarized below, are intended to discourage coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids and to promote stability in our management. These provisions are also designed to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to first negotiate with our Board of Directors.

Undesignated Preferred Stock. The ability to authorize undesignated preferred stock makes it possible for our Board of Directors to issue one or more series of preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could impede the success of any attempt to change control of us. These and other provisions may have the effect of deferring hostile takeovers or delaying changes in control or management of our company.

Advance Notice Procedures. The advance notice procedures in our bylaws with regard to stockholder proposals relating to the nomination of candidates for election as directors or new business to be brought before meetings of our stockholders provide that notice of stockholder proposals must be timely given in writing to our corporate secretary prior to the meeting at which the action is to be taken. Generally, to be timely, notice must be received at our principal executive offices not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary date of the annual meeting for the preceding year. Our bylaws specify the requirements as to form and content of all such stockholder notices. These requirements may have the effect of precluding stockholders from bringing proposals relating to the nomination of candidates for election as directors or new business before the stockholders at an annual or special meeting.

Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute. We are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. This law prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in any business combination with any interested stockholder for a period of three years following the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder unless:

- prior to the date of the transaction, the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;
- upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the number of shares outstanding those shares owned by persons who are directors and also officers and by employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or
- on or subsequent to the date of the transaction, the business combination is approved by the board of directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Section 203 defines "business combinations" to include:

- any merger or consolidation involving the corporation and the interested stockholder;
- any sale, transfer, pledge or other disposition of 10% or more of our assets involving the interested stockholder;
- in general, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by us of any of our stock to the interested stockholder; or
- the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial benefits provided by or through the corporation.

In general, Section 203 defines an "interested stockholder" as an entity or person beneficially owning 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation and any entity or person affiliated with or controlling or controlled by the entity or person.

SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

The shares of Common Stock being offered by the Selling Stockholders are those previously issued to the Selling Stockholders, and those issuable to the Selling Stockholders, upon exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants. The Selling Stockholders acquired the Common Stock and the Pre-Funded Warrants pursuant to the Purchase Agreement. We are registering the shares of Common Stock in order to permit the Selling Stockholders to offer the shares of Common Stock for resale from time to time. The Selling Stockholders may sell some, all or none of their shares of Common Stock. We do not know how long the Selling Stockholders will hold the Pre-Funded Warrants, whether any will exercise the Pre-Funded Warrants, and upon such exercise, how long such Selling Stockholders will hold the shares of Common Stock before selling them, and we currently have no agreements, arrangements or understandings with the Selling Stockholders regarding the sale of any of the shares of Common Stock. Except as otherwise disclosed in this registration statement, the Selling Stockholders have not had any material relationship with us within the past three years.

The table below lists the Selling Stockholders and other information regarding the beneficial ownership of the shares of Common Stock of each Selling Stockholder based on information supplied to us by the Selling Stockholders. The second column lists the number of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by each Selling Stockholder, based on its ownership of the shares of Common Stock and Pre-Funded Warrants, as of the date such information was provided to us, assuming exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants held by the Selling Stockholders on that date, without regard to any limitations on exercises. The third column lists the number shares of Common Stock being offered by this prospectus by the Selling Stockholders.

In accordance with the terms of the Purchase Agreement, this prospectus generally covers the resale of the sum of (i) the number of shares of Common Stock issued to the Selling Stockholders pursuant to the Purchase Agreement and (ii) the maximum number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants, determined as if the outstanding Pre-Funded Warrants were exercised in full as of the trading day immediately preceding the date this registration statement was initially filed with the SEC, each as of the trading day immediately preceding the applicable date of determination, without regard to any limitations on the exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants. The fourth and fifth columns assume the sale of all of the shares of Common Stock offered by the Selling Stockholders pursuant to this prospectus. Except as noted below, beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act and Rule 13d-3 thereunder. The beneficial ownership in the table below is based on 118,773,864 shares of our Common Stock actually outstanding as of September 30, 2022.

Under the terms of the Pre-Funded Warrants held by the Selling Stockholders, a Selling Stockholder may not exercise such securities to the extent such exercise would cause such Selling Stockholder, together with its affiliates and attribution parties, to beneficially own a number of shares of common stock which would exceed 9.99% (the "**Maximum Percentage**") of our then-outstanding common stock following such exercise, excluding for purposes of such determination shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants that have not been exercised. By written notice to the Company, the Selling Stockholders may from time to time increase or decrease the Maximum Percentage to any other percentage not in excess of 19.99% specified in such notice; provided, that any increase in the Maximum Percentage will not be effective until the 61st day after such

notice is delivered us. The number of shares in the second and third columns do not reflect this limitation. The Selling Stockholders may sell all, some or none of their shares of Common Stock in this offering. See "Plan of Distribution."

	Number of Shares Beneficially Owned Before this Offering	Number of Shares to be Sold in this Offering	Shares Beneficially Owned After this Offering	
Selling Stockholder			Number of Shares	Percentage of Total Outstanding Common Stock
Deep Track Biotechnology Master Fund, Ltd. ⁽¹⁾	17,096,774	17,096,774		— %
Broadfin Holdings, LLC ⁽²⁾	1,451,613	1,451,613		— %
Biomedical Offshore Value Fund, Ltd. ⁽³⁾	2,297,581	2,297,581		— %
Biomedical Value Fund, L.P. ⁽⁴⁾	3,347,580	3,347,580		— %
ArrowMark Life Sciences Fund II, LP ⁽⁵⁾	576,871	483,871	93,000	*

Represents beneficial ownership of less than one percent.

(1) Includes 8,548,387 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Pre-Funded Warrants without giving effect to the Maximum Percentage limitation. Voting and dispositive power for these shares is shared by Deep Track Capital, LP, Deep Track Biotechnology Master Fund, Ltd. and David Kroin. The address for Deep Track Capital, LP is 200 Greenwich Ave., 3rd Floor, Greenwich, Connecticut 06830. The address for Deep Track Biotechnology Master Fund, Ltd. is c/o Walkers Corporate Limited, 190 Elgin Ave, George Town, KY1-9001, Cayman Islands. The address for David Kroin is c/o Deep Track Capital, LP, 200 Greenwich Ave, 3rd Floor, Greenwich, Connecticut 06830.

(2) Broadfin Holdings, LLC is a family office located at 200 Broadhollow Road, Suite 207, Melville, New York 11747.

- (3) Great Point Partners, LLC ("Great Point") is the investment manager of Biomedical Value Fund, L.P ("BVF"). By virtue of its status as investment manager for BVF, Great Point may be deemed to be the beneficial owner with respect to these shares. Each of Dr. Jeffrey R. Jay, M.D., as Senior Managing Member of Great Point, and Mr. Ortav Yehudai, as Managing Director of Great Point, has voting and investment power with respect to the shares, and therefore may be deemed to be the beneficial owners of such shares. Great Point, Dr. Jay and Mr. Yehudai disclaim beneficial ownership of such shares, except to the extent of their respective pecuniary interests.
- (4) Great Point is the investment manager of Biomedical Offshore Value Fund, Ltd ("BOVF"). By virtue of its status as investment manager for BOVF, Great Point may be deemed to be the beneficial owner with respect to these shares. Each of Dr. Jeffrey R. Jay, M.D., as Senior Managing Member of Great Point, and Mr. Ortav Yehudai, as Managing Director of Great Point, has voting and investment power with respect to the shares, and therefore may be deemed to be the beneficial owners of such shares. Great Point, Dr. Jay and Mr. Yehudai disclaim beneficial ownership of such shares, except to the extent of their respective pecuniary interests.
- (5) ArrowMark Colorado Holdings ("**ArrowMark**") serves as the investment adviser for ArrowMark Life Sciences Fund II, LP. The address of the selling stockholder is 100 Fillmore Street #325, Denver, Colorado 80206. ArrowMark beneficially owns 5,601,107 shares of Common Stock on behalf of the various funds it advises.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We are registering the Common Stock and the Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Pre-Funded Warrants (collectively, the "**Shares**") previously issued in the private placement to permit the resale of these shares of Common Stock by the Selling Stockholders thereof from time to time after the date of this prospectus. We will not receive any of the proceeds from the resale by the Selling Stockholders of the Shares. We will bear all fees and expenses incident to our obligation to register the Shares.

The Selling Stockholders, which shall include donees, pledgees, transferees or other successors-in-interest selling Shares or interests in Shares received after the date of this prospectus from a Selling Stockholder as a gift, pledge, partnership distribution or other transfer, may, from time to time, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any or all of their Shares or interests in shares of Common Stock on any stock exchange, market or trading facility on which the shares are traded or in private transactions. These dispositions may be at fixed prices, at prevailing market prices at the time of sale, at prices related to the prevailing market price, at varying prices determined at the time of sale, or at negotiated prices.

The Selling Stockholders may use any one or more of the following methods when disposing of the Shares or interests therein:

- on any national securities exchange or quotation service on which the securities may be listed or quoted at the time of sale;
- ordinary brokerage transactions and transactions in which the broker-dealer solicits purchasers;
- block trades in which the broker-dealer will attempt to sell the Shares as agent, but may position and resell a portion of the block as
 principal to facilitate the transaction;
- purchases by a broker-dealer as principal and resale by the broker-dealer for its own account;
- an exchange distribution in accordance with the rules of the applicable exchange;
- privately negotiated transactions;
- short sales;
- through the writing or settlement of options or other hedging transactions, whether through an options exchange or otherwise;
- through agreements between broker-dealers and the Selling Stockholders to sell a specified number of such Shares at a stipulated price per Share;
- a combination of any such methods of sale; and
- any other method permitted by applicable law.

The Selling Stockholders may, from time to time, pledge or grant a security interest in some or all of the Shares owned by them and, if they default in the performance of their secured obligations, the pledgees or secured parties may offer and sell the Shares, from time to time, under this prospectus, or under an amendment to this prospectus under Rule 424(b) or other applicable provision of the Securities Act amending the list of Selling Stockholders to include the pledgee, transferee or other successors in interest as Selling Stockholders under this prospectus. The Selling Stockholders also may transfer the Shares in other circumstances, in which case the pledgees, transferees or other successors in interest will be the selling beneficial owners for purposes of this prospectus.

In connection with the sale of our Common Stock or interests therein, the Selling Stockholders may enter into hedging transactions with brokerdealers or other financial institutions, which may in turn engage in short sales of the Common Stock in the course of hedging the positions they assume. The Selling Stockholders may also sell shares of our Common Stock short and deliver these securities to close out their short positions, or loan or pledge the Common Stock to broker-dealers that in turn may sell these securities. The Selling Stockholders

may also enter into options or other transactions with broker-dealers or other financial institutions or the creation of one or more derivative securities which require the delivery to each such broker-dealer or other financial institution of Shares offered by this prospectus, which Shares such broker-dealer or other financial institution may resell pursuant to this prospectus (as supplemented or amended to reflect such transaction).

The aggregate proceeds to the Selling Stockholders from the sale of the Common Stock offered by them will be the purchase price of the Common Stock less discounts or commissions, if any. Each of the Selling Stockholders reserves the right to accept and, together with its agents from time to time, to reject, in whole or in part, any proposed purchase of Common Stock to be made directly or through agents. We will not receive any of the proceeds from this offering.

The Selling Stockholders also may resell all or a portion of the Shares in open market transactions in reliance upon Rule 144 under the Securities Act, provided that they meet the criteria and conform to the requirements of that rule.

There can be no assurance that any Selling Stockholder will sell any or all of the Shares registered pursuant to the registration statement, of which this prospectus forms a part.

The Selling Stockholders and any underwriters, broker-dealers or agents that participate in the sale of the Common Stock or interests therein may be "underwriters" within the meaning of Section 2(11) of the Securities Act. Any discounts, commissions, concessions or profit they earn on any resale of the Shares may be underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act. Selling Stockholders who are "underwriters" within the meaning of Section 2(11) of the subject to the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act.

To the extent required, the shares of our Common Stock to be sold, the names of the Selling Stockholders, the respective purchase prices and public offering prices, the names of any agents, dealer or underwriter, and any applicable commissions or discounts with respect to a particular offer will be set forth in an accompanying prospectus supplement or, if appropriate, a post-effective amendment to the registration statement that includes this prospectus.

In order to comply with the securities laws of some states, if applicable, the Common Stock may be sold in these jurisdictions only through registered or licensed brokers or dealers. In addition, in some states the Common Stock may not be sold unless it has been registered or qualified for sale or an exemption from registration or qualification requirements is available and is complied with.

We have advised the Selling Stockholders that the anti-manipulation rules of Regulation M under the Exchange Act may apply to sales of Shares in the market and to the activities of the Selling Stockholders and their affiliates. In addition, to the extent applicable, we will make copies of this prospectus (as it may be supplemented or amended from time to time) available to the Selling Stockholders for the purpose of satisfying the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act. The Selling Stockholders may indemnify any broker-dealer that participates in transactions involving the sale of the Shares against certain liabilities, including liabilities arising under the Securities Act.

We are required to pay all fees and expenses incident to the registration of our securities. We have agreed to indemnify the Selling Stockholders against liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act and state securities laws, relating to the registration of the Shares offered by this prospectus. Once sold under the registration statement, of which this prospectus forms a part, the Shares will be freely tradable in the hands of persons other than our affiliates.

We have agreed with the Selling Stockholders to keep the registration statement of which this prospectus constitutes a part effective until the earlier of (1) such time as all of the Shares covered by this prospectus have been disposed of pursuant to and in accordance with the registration statement or (2) the date on which all of the Shares may be sold without restriction pursuant to Rule 144 of the Securities Act.

LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters relating to the issuance of the securities offered by this prospectus will be passed upon for us by Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP, San Francisco, California.

EXPERTS

WithumSmith+Brown, PC, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited our consolidated financial statements as of and for the period ended December 31, 2021, as set forth in its report, which is incorporated by reference in this prospectus and elsewhere in the registration statement upon the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

OUM & Co. LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited our consolidated financial statements as of and for the period ended December 31, 2020, as set forth in their report, which is incorporated by reference in this prospectus and elsewhere in the registration statement upon the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

Our consolidated financial statements are incorporated by reference in reliance on such reports, given on the authority of such firms as experts in auditing and accounting.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We are required to file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains all reports and other information that we file electronically with the SEC. The address of that website is www.sec.gov. Copies of certain information filed by us with the SEC are also available on our website at *www.herontx.com*. Our website is not a part of this prospectus and is not incorporated by reference in this prospectus, and you should not consider the contents of our website in making an investment decision with respect to our common stock.

We have filed a registration statement, of which this prospectus is a part, covering the shares of Common Stock offered hereby. As allowed by SEC rules, this prospectus does not include all of the information contained in the Registration Statement and the included exhibits, financial statements and schedules. You are referred to the Registration Statement, the included exhibits, financial statements and schedules for further information. Statements contained in this prospectus as to the contents of any contract or other document are not necessarily complete, and in each instance we refer you to the copy of the contract or document filed as an exhibit to the registration statement, each such statement being qualified in all respects by such reference. This prospectus is qualified in its entirety by such other information.

INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to "incorporate by reference" the information we have filed with them, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information we incorporate by reference is an important part of this prospectus, and information that we file later with the SEC will automatically update and supersede this information. The documents we are incorporating by reference are:

- Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on February 28, 2022;
- The information specifically incorporated by reference into our Annual Report on Form 10-K from our <u>Definitive Proxy Statement</u> on Schedule 14A, filed with the SEC on April 25, 2022;
- Our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended March 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022, filed with the SEC, respectively, on <u>May</u> 9, 2022 and <u>August 9, 2022</u>;
- Our Current Reports on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on <u>March 17, 2022</u>, <u>May 25, 2022</u>, <u>June 30, 2022</u>, <u>August 10, 2022</u> and <u>September 19, 2022</u>; and
- The description of the Company's common stock contained in Amendment No. 3 to that certain registration statement on <u>Form 8-A</u>, filed with the SEC on July 6, 2017 pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act, including any amendment or report filed for the purpose of updating that description.

All documents we file with the SEC pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, except as to any portion of any report or document that is not deemed filed under such provisions, (1) on or after the date of filing of the registration statement containing this prospectus and prior to the effectiveness of the registration statement and (2) on or after the date of this prospectus until the earlier of the date on which all of the securities registered hereunder have been sold or the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part has been withdrawn, shall be deemed incorporated by reference in this prospectus and to be a part of this prospectus from the date of filing of those documents and will be automatically updated and, to the extent described above, supersede information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus and previously filed documents that are incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

Nothing in this prospectus shall be deemed to incorporate information furnished but not filed with the SEC pursuant to Item 2.02, 7.01 or 9.01 of Form 8-K.

Upon written or oral request, we will provide without charge to each person, including any beneficial owner, to whom a copy of the prospectus is delivered a copy of any or all of the reports or documents incorporated by reference herein (other than exhibits to such documents, unless such exhibits are specifically incorporated by reference herein). You may request a copy of these filings, at no cost, by writing or telephoning us at the following address: Heron Therapeutics, Inc., 4242 Campus Point Court, Suite 200, San Diego, California 92121 Attention: Investor Relations, telephone: (858) 251-4400. We maintain a website at *www.herontx.com*. You may access our definitive proxy statements on Schedule 14A, annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and periodic amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act with the SEC free of charge at our website as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. The information contained in, or that can be accessed through, our website is not incorporated by reference in, and is not part of, this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with any information that differs from that contained in this prospectus. Accordingly, you should not rely on any information that is not contained in this prospectus. You should not assume that the information in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date of the front cover of this prospectus.

Heron Therapeutics, Inc.



Up to 24,677,419 Shares of Common Stock

PROSPECTUS

October 18, 2022